
TOWN OF AMHERST INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
Agenda – 530th Meeting 

Friday, December 17, 2021-8:30 am 

Via Zoom - James J. Allen Boardroom 
Agency Offices – 4287 Main Street, Amherst, NY 14226 

1. Roll Call of Members

2. Reading and Approval of Minutes

3. Bills & Communications

4. Treasurer’s Report

5. Public Comment

a. Speakers Limited to Three (3) Minutes

6. Executive Director’s Report

7. Committee Reports
I. Governance Committee

- Amherst Central Park Infrastructure
Fund and Administration Agreement

8. Unfinished Business

9. New Business
I. 111 North Maplemere, LLC

- Authorization Resolution
II. Amherst NY Properties, KP6, LLC

- Public Hearing
- Authorization Resolution

10. Adjournment



TOWN OF AMHERST INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
Minutes of the 529th Meeting 

Monday, December 6, 2021 – 8:30 am – via Zoom 
James J. Allen Boardroom  

Agency Offices, 4287 Main Street 

Pursuant to the provisions of Part E of Chapter 417 of the Laws of 2021, the Town of Amherst 
Industrial Development Agency Board of Directors Meeting was conducted through via Zoom 
and live streamed at www.AmherstIDA.com. In attendance at the meeting at Amherst IDA 
offices was Executive Director David Mingoia. A video recording of the meeting can be 
accessed and viewed at www.AmherstIDA.com 

PRESENT via Zoom: Carlton N. Brock, Jr. 
William Tuyn 
Anthony Agostino 
Timothy Drury 
Philip Meyer 
Hadar Borden 
Frank L. LoTempio III 
David S. Mingoia, Executive Director 
Kevin J. Zanner, Hurwitz & Fine PC 

GUESTS via Zoom: AIDA Staff 
Jacqualine Berger, TOA Councilmember 
Brian Kulpa, TOA Supervisor 
Angela Rossi, TOA Dept of Economic Development 
Sean Hopkins, Hopkins & Sgroi 
Donald Griebner,  
Erik Wagner, Ciminelli Development Co. 
D. Feldman
Lawrence Hunter
Dr. McGrath, 111 North Maplemere, LLC
Dr. Leddy, 111 North Maplemere, LLC

Chairman Carlton Brock called the meeting to order and reminded everyone the meeting was 
being video recorded and live-streamed. 

MINUTES 
Upon a motion by Frank LoTempio seconded by Philip Meyer and unanimously carried, the 

minutes of the October meeting were approved as presented. 

BILLS & COMMUNICATIONS 
There were no Bills & Communications presented at this meeting. 

http://www.amherstida.com/


TREASURER’S REPORT 
Upon a motion by Frank LoTempio, seconded by Hadar Borden and unanimously carried, the 

Treasurer’s Report for October 2021 was approved as presented. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
There was no Public Comment at this meeting. 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
There was no Executive Director’s Report presented at this meeting. 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 
Governance Committee 
The Governance Committee met in November to discuss the OSC Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

for the Amherst IDA Audit performed by their office and released in September 2021. The Committee 
recommended the CAP be presented to the full board for approval at its December 6, 2021 meeting. 

Frank LoTempio made a motion to approve the OSC Corrective Action Plan (CAP).  Philip Meyer 
seconded the motion.  Votes to approve the CAP were made by Brock, Agostino, Drury, Meyer, Borden 
and LoTempio.  Motion to approve passed by a vote of 6-0. 

Establish 2022 Nominating Committee 
Philip Meyer made a motion to approve Hadar Borden and Anthony Agostino as the 2022 

Nominating Committee.  Frank LoTempio seconded the motion.  Votes to approve the 2022 Nominating 
Committee as Hadar Borden and Anthony Agostino were made by Brock, Agostino, Drury, Meyer, 
Borden and LoTempio.  Motion to approve passed by a vote of 6-0. 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
There was no Unfinished Business presented at this meeting. 

NEW BUSINESS 
A Public Hearing commenced at 8:40 am for an application for assistance for 111 North 

Maplemere, LLC project. 

8:40 am – AIDA Board Member William Tuyn entered the meeting. 

9:14 am – The Public Hearing was closed.  

Frank LoTempio made a motion to place the 111 North Maplemere, LLC project application on 
the agenda for the Friday, December 17th Board of Directors meeting. William Tuyn seconded the 
motion.  Votes of aye to place the 111 North Maplemere, LLC project on the agenda for the Friday, 
December 17th Board of Directors meeting were cast by Brock, Tuyn, Agostino, Drury, Meyer, Borden 
and LoTempio.  Motion to approve passed 7-0. 

9:20 am – Frank LoTempio made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Anthony Agostino seconded 
the motion.  Motion to approve adjournment was unanimously carried. 



EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS REPORT 
December 17, 2021  
 
2022 - EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND BOARD MEETING DATES 
 
Below is draft proposed meeting dates for calendar year 2022.  Please let us know if there are any 
known conflicts so we can adjust before we publish the meeting schedule in January.   
 
 EXECUTIVE (or other) COMMITTEE   BOARD MEETINGS 
 
 Thursday, January 6, 2022    Friday, January 21, 2022 
 
 Thursday, February 3, 2022    Friday, February 18, 2022 
 
 Thursday, March 10, 2022    Friday, March 25, 2022 
 
 Thursday, April 7, 2022     Friday, April 22, 2022 
 
 Thursday, May 5, 2022     Friday, May 20, 2022 
 
 Thursday, June 2, 2022     Friday, June 17, 2022 
 
 Thursday, July 7, 2022     Friday, July 22, 2022 
 
 Thursday, August 4, 2022    Friday, August 19, 2022 
 
 Thursday, September 1, 2022    Friday, September 16, 2022 
 
 Thursday, October 6, 2022    Friday, October 21, 2022 
 
 Thursday, November 3, 2022    Friday, November 18, 2022 
 
 Thursday, December 1, 2022    Friday, December 16, 2022 
 



12-01-2021v2 

AMHERST CENTRAL PARK 
INFRASTRUCTURE FUND ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT 

 
THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), entered into as of _____________, 202_, is 

by and between the TOWN OF AMHERST INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 
AGENCY, a New York public benefit corporation with offices at 4287 Main Street, 
Amherst, New York 14228 (“AIDA”); and the TOWN OF AMHERST, a New York 
municipal corporation having its principal office at 5583 Main Street, Williamsville, New 
York 14221 (the “Town”).  

 
RECITALS: 

 
A. AIDA, the Town, and the Sweet Home Central School District (the 

“School District”) are parties to that certain Amherst Central Park Infrastructure Fund 
and PILOT Application Agreement (the “PILOT Application Agreement”) pursuant to 
which the parties agreed to have AIDA redirect a portion of Town PILOT payments and 
a portion of School District PILOT payments received by AIDA to a restricted fund (the 
“Amherst Central Park Infrastructure Fund” or “Fund”), to be managed and disbursed by 
AIDA in accordance with this Agreement.  
 

B. The parties desire to enter into this Agreement to set forth their respective 
understandings concerning the management and administration of the Fund. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 
 

ARTICLE I 
INCORPORATION OF RECITALS 

 
1.1 Recitals.  The foregoing Recitals are hereby incorporated into this 

Agreement and made a part hereof as if fully set forth herein. 
 
 

ARTICLE II 
APPOINTMENT OF FUND ADMINISTRATOR 

 
2.1 Appointment. AIDA is hereby designated as administrator of the Fund 

(the “Fund Administrator”), and AIDA accepts such appointment upon the terms and 
conditions set forth herein.   
 

ARTICLE III 
DUTIES OF FUND ADMINISTRATOR 

 
3.1 No Implied Duties. The Fund Administrator need only perform those 

duties that are specifically set forth in this Agreement. No covenants or obligations 
adverse to the Fund Administrator shall be implied in this Agreement. 



 12-01-2021v2 
 

2 
 

 
3.2 Investment of PILOT Payments.  The Fund Administrator shall deposit 

Town PILOT payments and School District PILOT payments received pursuant to the 
PILOT Application Agreement into one or more dedicated, interest-bearing depository 
accounts (individually or collectively, the “Fund Account”) established at the financial 
institution at which AIDA regularly maintains its own accounts. The Fund Administrator 
shall have the absolute discretion to invest and manage the Fund Account, subject to the 
investment limitations set forth in Section 10 of the New York General Municipal Law 
(GML). All decisions made by the Fund Administrator in connection with the investment 
and management of the Fund Account shall be final and not subject to challenge, 
provided that the Fund Administrator is managing the Fund Account in compliance with 
Section 10 of the GML.  Provided that the Fund Administrator complies with Section 10 
of the GML in connection with the investment and management of the Fund Account, the 
Fund Administrator shall have no liability for any losses incurred to the Fund Account. 

  
3.3 Reinvestment.  The Fund Administrator shall reinvest all interest earned 

on the monies of the Fund into the Fund Account. All earned interest shall become part of 
the Fund, to be managed and disbursed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.    

 
3.4  Disbursement of Fund Monies.  

 
(a) Eligible Disbursement Purposes.   The parties acknowledge and agree that 

the Fund has been established for the purpose of funding “Eligible Projects” as defined in 
the PILOT Application Agreement which include: (i) the undertaking of public 
infrastructure improvements and public streetscape improvements and/or enhancements, 
sidewalk reconstruction, curb reconstruction, tree planting, installation of street lighting, 
paving and public parking, smart city technologies, traffic signals, within the PIF 
District; and (ii) financial assistance for the Northwest Community Center, Amherst 
Central Park and park-displaced projects located elsewhere in the Town. No 
disbursement may be made from the Fund unless such disbursement is for an eligible 
purpose as described in the preceding sentence (“Eligible Purpose”) and the disbursement 
request complies with the requirements set forth in Section 3.4(b) of this Agreement.  

 
(b) Disbursement Requests. The Town may request from time to time that the 

Fund Administrator disburse monies from the Fund Account to the Town (or if requested 
by the Town in writing, to a person or entity designated by the Town) for an Eligible 
Purpose. Each disbursement request made by the Town to the Fund Administrator shall 
be accompanied by (i) documentation satisfactory to the Fund Administrator that is 
sufficient to identify that the disbursement is being requested in connection with an 
Eligible Purpose (“Disbursement Request Documentation”) and (ii) a certification 
(“Town Certification”) signed by the Town Supervisor (“Supervisor”) or other person 
duly authorized in writing by the Supervisor confirming that the disbursement request has 
been approved by the Town and certifying that the monies requested for disbursement 
shall be applied by the Town toward an Eligible Purpose as described in the 
Disbursement Request Documentation. Provided that the Disbursement Request 
Documentation and the Town Certification meet the requirements of the preceding 



 12-01-2021v2 
 

3 
 

sentence and there are sufficient monies in the Fund Account to fulfill the disbursement 
request, the Fund Administrator shall disburse monies from the Fund Account to the 
Town within ten (10) business days after the Fund Administrator’s approval of the 
disbursement request, provided that the Fund Administrator may delay disbursement for a 
period of time (not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days) if it determines that an earlier 
disbursement would result in penalties or other losses to the Fund Account. 

 
(c) Rejection of Disbursement Request. In the event that the Fund 

Administrator determines that the Disbursement Request Documentation and/or the 
Town Certification do not meet the requirements of Section 3.4(b), the Fund 
Administrator shall reject the disbursement request and notify the Town in writing of 
same no later than five (5) business days after the Fund Administrator’s receipt of the 
disbursement request. Such notification shall identify the specific deficiency or 
deficiencies in the Disbursement Request Documentation and/or the Town Certification, 
as applicable. The Town may submit additional documentation to the Fund Administrator 
to correct the deficiency or deficiencies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Fund 
Administrator shall retain the discretion to grant or reject a disbursement request based 
on such additional documentation. The Fund Administrator’s determination that any 
Disbursement Request Documentation and/or the Town Certification do not meet the 
requirements of Section 3.4(b) shall be final and not subject to challenge.  

 
(d) Payment of Fund Administration Expenses.  The Fund Administrator shall 

pay all Fund Administration Expenses (as defined herein) from the Fund Account, 
provided that such expenses are documented to the satisfaction of the Fund 
Administrator. “Fund Administration Expenses” shall include all out-of-pocket third-
party costs and expenses incurred by the Fund Administrator in connection with the 
performance of its duties under this Agreement, including, without limitation, any fees 
assessed by the financial institution(s) with respect to the Fund Account and any 
expenses incurred in connection with any audit with respect to the Fund Account. Fund 
Administration Expenses shall also include standard time charges of the Fund 
Administrator for its personnel with regard to the performance by such personnel of the 
Fund Administrator’s responsibilities under this Agreement, provided that such time 
charges are fully documented and do not exceed 1% of the balance of the Fund in any 
given calendar year. Statements for time charges of the Fund Administrator shall be 
issued and paid in December of each year, with the 1% limitation described in the 
preceding sentence measured as of November 30th of the same calendar year.    

 
(e) Accuracy of Documents; Indemnity. In disbursing monies from the Fund 

Account, the Fund Administrator shall be entitled to conclusively rely upon the accuracy 
of all facts and representations set forth in the Disbursement Request Documentation, the 
Town Certification and such other documentation received by the Fund Administrator 
and need not investigate any fact or matter stated in such documentation.  The Town shall 
indemnify and hold the Fund Administrator harmless from any and all claims, demands 
and lawsuits against the Fund Administrator which arise from or relate to any inaccuracy 
or misrepresentation in any Disbursement Request Documentation or Town Certification 



 12-01-2021v2 
 

4 
 

submitted by the Town to the Fund Administrator or any determination by the Fund 
Administrator to grant or reject such a disbursement request. 

 
 3.5 Resignation of Fund Administrator.  AIDA may, upon 120 days prior 
written notice to the Town, resign from its responsibilities under this Agreement, 
provided that a replacement Fund Administrator agrees to assume AIDA’s 
responsibilities under this Agreement in accordance with the provisions of this Section 
2.2.  Upon issuance of such notice, AIDA shall use its best efforts to obtain an agreement 
from a commercial bank and trust company or another institution reasonably satisfactory 
to the Town to assume the responsibilities of Fund Administrator, and the charges of such 
replacement Fund Administrator to perform such services shall constitute eligible Fund 
Administration Expenses as defined in Section 3.4(d) of this Agreement.   
 

ARTICLE IV 
RECORDKEEPING; REPORTS AND AUDITS 

 
4.1 Recordkeeping. The Fund Administrator shall keep accurate and 

complete records pertaining to the Fund Account.  Such records shall include a record of 
all deposits, investments and interest earned in the Fund Account, and all disbursements 
made from the Fund Account.  

 
4.2 Reporting Requirements. The Fund Administrator shall prepare and 

submit an annual report to the Town, School District and AIDA within one hundred 
twenty (120) days after the end of each calendar year.  Each report shall identify the 
amount of Town PILOT payments and School District PILOT payments remitted to the 
Fund Administrator and shall include a schedule setting forth the Fund balance at the 
beginning and end of the calendar year, all disbursements made from the Fund for an 
Eligible Purpose, all disbursements made from the Fund for Fund Administration 
Expenses and the amount of interest earned on the Fund balance during the calendar year.   
 

4.3 Audit Rights. The Town, School District and AIDA may, at their sole 
expense, audit the Fund upon thirty (30) days written notice to the Fund Administrator.  
 

ARTICLE V 
TERM; TERMINATION 

 
5.1 Term; Termination. This Agreement shall commence as of the Effective 

Date set forth above and continue until the Fund Administrator has disbursed all funds 
from the Fund Account.  

 
 

ARTICLE VI 
EXCULPATORY PROVISIONS 

 
6.1 Exculpatory Provisions.  No provision, covenant or agreement contained 

in this Agreement, and any other agreement entered into in connection herewith, nor any 



 12-01-2021v2 
 

5 
 

obligations herein imposed upon the parties, nor the breach thereof, shall constitute or 
give rise to or impose upon such party a pecuniary liability or a charge upon its general 
credit. All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the parties 
contained herein shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and 
obligations of such party and not of any member, director, officer, employee or agent 
thereof in his or her individual capacity, and no recourse shall be had for any claim 
hereunder against any member, director, officer, employee or agent of such party. 
 
 6.2 Limitation on Performance.  No provision of this Agreement shall require 
the Fund Administrator to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur financial 
liability in the performance of any of its duties herein or in the exercise of any of its 
rights or duties if the Fund Administrator shall have reasonable grounds for believing that 
repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or liability is not 
reasonably assured.  
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
 7.1 Entire Agreement; Amendment. This Agreement (including the 
Schedule attached hereto) sets forth the entire agreement and understandings of the 
parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior agreements, 
written or oral, with respect thereto. No amendment or modification of this Agreement 
shall be effective unless in writing and signed by all of the parties hereto. 
 
 7.2 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed 
in accordance with the laws of the State of New York. 
 
 7.3 Waiver. No waiver by any party of any breach, default or violation of 
any term, warranty, representation, agreement, covenant, condition or provision hereof shall 
constitute a waiver of any subsequent breach, default or violation of the same or any other 
term, warranty, representation, agreement, covenant, condition or provision hereof. 
 
 7.4 Binding Effect; No Assignment. The provisions of this Agreement 
shall bind and benefit the successors and assigns of the parties hereto, provided that no party 
shall assign this Agreement, or any of their rights or obligations hereunder, without the prior 
written consent of the other parties hereto.   
 
 7.5 Notices. All notices that may be given in connection with this 
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally or mailed postage prepaid, 
by regular mail, to the parties at their addresses as set forth above.  Notices shall be effective 
from the date of delivery if delivered personally, or from one (1) business day after the day 
of deposit with the U.S. mail, if mailed. 
 
 7.6 Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be severable, and if 
any clause, sentence, paragraph, provision or other part hereof shall be adjudged by any 



 12-01-2021v2 
 

6 
 

court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such judgment shall not affect, impair or 
invalidate the remainder hereof, which remainder shall continue in full force and effect. 
 
 7.7 Headings. The headings and captions herein are for convenience only 
and are not to be construed as a part of this Agreement, nor shall the same be construed as 
defining or limiting in any way the scope or intent of the provisions hereof. 
  
 7.8 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall 
constitute one and the same instrument. 

 
 

[The Remainder of this Page Intentionally Left Blank.] 



 12-01-2021v2 
 

7 
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Agreement as of the date 

first written above.  
    

 
TOWN OF AMHERST INDUSTRIAL  
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

 
 

By:      
   
 
 
TOWN OF AMHERST 
 
 
By:______________________________ 



 

 

 Commercial Project under NYS 
Law 

 Amherst Central Park 
Infrastructure Fund Project 

 

 Property Tax =  $1,146,000 
 Sales Tax = $2,209,112 
 Mortgage Tax= $355,781 
 

 PIF Proceeds = $11,990,000 
 Property Taxes = $3,346,000 
 Income Taxes = $31,906,000 
 Sales Taxes = $10,856,907 

 287 Construction and Related 
Jobs Created  

 80 Full-Time Equivalent Jobs 
Created 

 247 Full-Time Equivalent Jobs 
Retained 

 Site Payroll =  $22,629,000 

 December 2021 - Project Begins   
 January 2023 - Project Complete 
 
 

E  

C  I  (E .)  

P  B  (E .)  

E  

Project Summary:  
 
Ciminelli Real Estate Corporation, acting as agent and developer for the project, is one of the region’s 
most established developers for the past 35 years.  The proposed project consists of the development 
of a state of the art healthcare facility consisting of 163,200 square feet integrating innovative        
specialized medical tenants, mainly consisting of not-for-profit medical providers.  Kaleida,           
University Orthopeadic Services, Great Lakes Imaging, Bones and Guts, and General Physician, PC, 
are locating at the project to improve healthcare collaboration, community synergies, and improve  
patient outcomes. 
 
The project represents the first development in the Amherst Central Park Initiative (ACP) and will    
generate PILOT payments that will capitalize a fund to be used for infrastructure and community      
projects.  ACP is a generational creation of a mixture of complementary uses stemming off of the 
Northtown Center that will marry improved passive and active recreation along with cutting edge    
medical and associated residential and commercial development.  Initial funds from the ACP             
Infrastructure Fund will pay for roadway and utility costs, including a new boulevard at the project site, 
and the creation of the Northwest Amherst Community Center in partnership with the Sweet Home 
School District.   
 
The project qualifies under the Countywide Uniform Tax Exemption Policy and New York State       
Industrial Development Agency Statute as it will provide an expanded offering of medical services   
primarily by not-for-profit entities in one location that is currently not offered.  The applicant provided a 
market analysis report concluding that the concentration of medical services, leading edge technology, 
and advanced research and educational programming is not readily available.  In addition, months of     
planning and analysis in response to the COVID-19 Pandemic led to the  Amherst Medical Spine      
strategy, which is a collaborative effort between the Town, Amherst IDA and Amherst Chamber of 
Commerce to attract and expand specialized medical services and innovation in the Town of Amherst. 

PROJECT PROFILE: 
111 NORTH MAPLEMERE LLC - AMHERST 
COLLOBORATIVE MEDICAL FACILITY 
$67,250,006 

Investment: 
Land Acquisition:    $3,000,000 
Construction:        $45,905,211 
Soft/Other Costs:    $14,344,796 

Project Address: 
111 North Maplemere Drive 
Amherst, New York 14221 
(Sweet Home School District) 

P  S  



 

 

PROJECT PROFILE: 
111 NORTH MAPLEMERE LLC - AMHERST                  
COLLOBORATIVE MEDICAL FACILITY 
$67,250,006 

AIDA C  H :  

Page 2 

M  T :  

 
 None 

 
1. Creation of 68 Full-Time Equivalent Positions at the project location and       

maintenance of the positions for the duration of the PILOT. 
 
2. Retention of 247 Existing Full-Time Equivalent Positions at the project location 

and maintenance of the positions for the duration of the PILOT. 
 
3. Investment of not less than $57,162,505 at the project location as noted in the     

application. 
 
4. Compliance with the Agency’s Local Labor Policy in connection with the             

construction of the Project   



Town of Amherst Industrial Development Agency
MRB Cost Benefit Calculator Cost-Benefit Analysis Tool powered by MRB Group

Date
Project Title
Project Location

Summary of Economic Impacts over the Life of the PILOT
Project Total Investment
$45,905,211 Temporary (Construction)

Direct Indirect Total
Jobs 150 137 287

Earnings $14,237,620 $7,855,679 $22,093,298
Local Spend $34,428,908 $24,375,539 $58,804,448

Ongoing (Operations)
Aggregate over life of the PILOT

Direct Indirect Total
Jobs 327 192 519

Earnings $457,800,000 $229,129,159 $686,929,159

             Figure 1

          Net Benefits chart will always display construction through year 10, irrespective of the length of the PILOT.

Figure 2

© Copyright 2021 MRB Engineering, Architecture and Surveying, D.P.C. Ongoing earnings are all earnings over the life of the PILOT.

Economic Impacts

December 10, 2021
111 North Maplemere - Amherst Colloborative Medical Facility
111 North Maplemere Drive

Figure 3

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Ongoing

Temporary

Total Jobs

Direct Indirect

$0 $200,000,000 $400,000,000 $600,000,000 $800,000,000

Ongoing

Temporary

Total Earnings

Direct Indirect

-$10,000,000
-$5,000,000

$0
$5,000,000

$10,000,000
$15,000,000
$20,000,000
$25,000,000
$30,000,000
$35,000,000
$40,000,000

Net Benefits

Benefits Costs Net Benefits



Cost-Benefit Analysis Tool powered by MRB Group

Estimated Costs of Exemptions
Nominal Value Discounted Value*

Property Tax Exemption $1,146,351 $1,044,376

Sales Tax Exemption $2,905,211 $2,905,211
Local Sales Tax Exemption $1,577,115 $1,577,115
State Sales Tax Exemption $1,328,096 $1,328,096

Mortgage Recording Tax Exemption $355,781 $355,781
Local Mortgage Recording Tax Exemption $118,594 $118,594
State Mortgage Recording Tax Exemption $237,187 $237,187

Total Costs $4,407,343 $4,305,368

State and Local Benefits

Nominal Value Discounted Value*

Local Benefits

To Private Individuals
Temporary Payroll
Ongoing Payroll
Other Payments to Private Individuals

To the Public
Increase in Property Tax Revenue
Temporary Jobs - Sales Tax Revenue
Ongoing Jobs - Sales Tax Revenue
Other Local Municipal Revenue

State Benefits

To the Public
Temporary Income Tax Revenue
Ongoing Income Tax Revenue
Temporary Jobs - Sales Tax Revenue
Ongoing Jobs - Sales Tax Revenue

Total Benefits to State & Region

Benefit to Cost Ratio 
Ratio

Local 219:1
State 19:1

Grand Total 147:1
*Discounted at 2% 

             Does the IDA believe that the project can be accomplished in a timely fashion? Yes

© Copyright 2021 MRB Engineering, Architecture and Surveying, D.P.C.

$631,403,300$767,357,946

$631,403,300 $4,305,368

$30,911,812
$154,653

$4,808,504

Cost*
$601,050,530
$30,352,770

$2,740,085
$1,565,284

$3,931,297

$994,198
$25,272,622

$154,653

$36,869,168 $30,352,770

$36,869,168 $30,352,770
$994,198

$583,707,116
$22,093,298

$686,929,159
$22,093,298
$561,613,818

The Project is subject to the terms of the Amherst Central Park Infrastructure Fund and PILOT Application Agreement

Fiscal Impacts

Additional Comments from IDA

Benefit*

$730,488,779 $601,050,530

$709,022,457

$0 $0

$0 $0

$21,466,321 $17,343,414
$15,572,572 $12,491,348

$183,651 $183,651
$5,710,099 $4,668,415



1 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF AMHERST INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AUTHORIZING THE ACQUISITION AND  
CONSTRUCTION OF A STATE-OF-THE-ART HEALTHCARE FACILITY 
AND RELATED SITE IMPROVEMENTS BY CIMINELLI REAL ESTATE 
CORPORATION, AS AGENT FOR 111 NORTH MAPLEMERE LLC, TO BE 
LOCATED AT 111 NORTH MAPLEMERE ROAD, AMHERST, NEW YORK, 
FOR LEASE OR SALE TO THE AGENCY AND SUBSEQUENT LEASE OR 
RECONVEYANCE PURSUANT TO A LEASE OR AN INSTALLMENT SALE 
CONTRACT TO CIMINELLI REAL ESTATE CORPORATION, AS AGENT 
FOR 111 NORTH MAPLEMERE LLC, THE EXECUTION OF A 
MORTGAGE AGREEMENT, LEASE AGREEMENT AND/OR 
INSTALLMENT SALE CONTRACT, A CUSTOMIZED PILOT 
AGREEMENT AND THE TAKING OF OTHER ACTIONS. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Town of Amherst Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) is 
authorized under the laws of the State of New York, and in particular the New York State Industrial 
Development Agency Act, constituting Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 
24 of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended, and Section 914-a of the General Municipal 
Law, as amended (collectively, the “Act”), to promote, develop, encourage and assist in the acquiring, 
constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of industrial, 
manufacturing, warehousing, commercial and research facilities and thereby advance the job 
opportunities, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of the State of New York and to 
improve their prosperity and standard of living; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Ciminelli Real Estate Corporation, as agent for 111 North Maplemere LLC, 
a New York limited liability company (hereinafter, the “Company”), has submitted an application to 
the Agency requesting the Agency to undertake a certain project (the “Project”) consisting of: (i) 
the acquisition of an approximately 14.97-acre parcel of land (SBL No. 55.03-1-12) located at 111 
North Maplemere in Amherst, New York within the Sweet Home Central School District (the 
“Land”); and (ii) the construction of an approximately 163,000 +/- square foot state-of-the-art 
healthcare facility (the “Facility”) and related site improvements, including 816 parking spaces, 
the installation of public roadways and related infrastructure, landscaping, lighting, and storm 
water management improvements (collectively the “Improvements”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Company has submitted an application and other materials and information 
(collectively, the “Application”) to the Agency to initiate the accomplishment of the above; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Application sets forth certain information with respect to the Company and 
the Project, including the following: that the Company desires Agency financing for the construction 
of an approximately 163,000 square foot state-of-the-art healthcare facility, to be located at 111 North 
Maplemere Road in Amherst, New York, all at a cost of approximately $67,250,006; that the 
Company anticipates that eighty (80)  full-time equivalent (FTE) employment positions will be 
created and two hundred and forty-seven (247) FTE employment positions will be retained;  that if 
Agency financing is disapproved, the Company would likely not proceed with the Project; and that, 
therefore, Agency financing is necessary to encourage the Company to proceed with the Project; and  
 



2 
 

 WHEREAS, Section IV of the Countywide Uniform Tax Exemption Policy the (“UTEP”) 
permits the Agency to deviate from its standard payment in lieu of taxes agreement schedule in 
accordance with the requirements set forth in the UTEP and applicable provisions of the General 
Municipal Law; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 874(4)(b) of the General Municipal Law and the UTEP, the 
Agency duly delivered a notice of deviation on November 22, 2021 to the chief executive officers of 
each of the affected taxing jurisdictions and the industrial development agencies located in Erie 
County regarding the proposed non-standard PILOT Agreement for the Project; and   
 
 WHEREAS, after the giving of all required notices (including published notice), the Agency 
held a public hearing on the Project on December 6, 2021, and has considered all oral and written 
presentations made at or in connection with said public hearing and all written comments submitted 
to the Agency regarding the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, based upon the Application, the Agency has determined that the Project includes 
facilities or property which will be primarily used in making retail sales (as defined in Section 862(2) 
of the New York General Municipal Law) to customers who personally visit such facilities and that 
the Agency is permitted to provide financial assistance with respect to the Project because the 
predominant purpose of the Project would be to make available goods or services—specifically 
medical services in a multi-tenant, state-of-the-art, multi-disciplinary healthcare facility—which 
would not, but for the Project, be reasonably accessible to the residents of the Town of Amherst 
because of a lack of reasonably accessible retail trade facilities offering such goods or services; and 
  
 WHEREAS, based upon the Application, the Agency has determined that the Project 
constitutes a medical project under the UTEP and that the Agency is permitted to provide financial 
assistance with respect to the Project because the Project would provide medical services that are 
generally not available and the Company has provided a market analysis (the “Market Analysis”) 
which concluded that the Project’s concentration of medical services, leading edge technology, and 
advanced research educational programming is not readily available in the Town of Amherst or Erie 
County, New York; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Company has represented in its Application that the completion of the 
Project will not result in the removal of a civic, commercial, industrial, or manufacturing plant of the 
Company or any occupant of the Facility from one area of the State to another area of the State, or in 
the abandonment of one or more plants or facilities of the Company or any proposed occupant of the 
Facility located within the State; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency further finds, based on the Application, that the Project will serve 
the public purpose of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law by preserving permanent, private 
sector jobs or increasing the overall number of permanent, private sector jobs in New York State; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency has reviewed the Application, prepared a cost-benefit analysis with 
respect to the Project and considered the extent to which the Project will create and retain permanent, 
private-sector jobs, the value of tax exemptions to be provided, the amount of private sector 
investment generated or likely to be generated by the Project, the likelihood of accomplishing the 



3 
 

proposed Project in a timely fashion, the extent to which the proposed Project will provide additional 
sources of revenue for the municipalities and school district and other public benefits that might occur 
as a result of the Project; and   
  
  WHEREAS, the Agency desires to encourage the Company with respect to the 
consummation of the Project, if by doing so it is able to induce the Company to proceed with the 
Project in the Town of Amherst; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Company has determined it will complete the Project by obtaining a 
conventional loan(s) from a third party, and the Company has requested that the Agency execute any 
and all documents required by the parties, including any collateral mortgages on the Project given to 
secure a loan(s) obtained by the Company to finance the cost of the Project; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Town of Amherst Planning Board (the “Planning Board”) served as lead 
agency pursuant to the State Environmental Quality Review Act (ECL Article 8 and its 
implementing regulations at 6 NYCRR Part 617) (“SEQRA”) for the Company’s project. The 
Agency was duly identified as an involved agency in Part 1 of a long-form Environmental 
Assessment Form (“EAF”) which was completed for the Project, a copy of which was provided to 
the Agency and is attached hereto as part of Exhibit A; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Board made determinations on July 6, 2020, May 20, 2021, and 
September 23, 2021 at the completion of coordinated environmental reviews of the Project, 
concluding that the requirements of SEQRA were complete, and that the project is not expected to 
have a significant adverse effect on the environment (the “SEQRA Findings”). A copy of the 
SEQRA Findings is attached hereto as part of Exhibit A. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE TOWN OF AMHERST INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 
AGENCY HEREBY RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  
 
 Section 1.  Based upon the Agency’s review of the Company’s Application, the EAF 
and the SEQRA Findings issued by the Planning Board, the Agency hereby: (a) consents to and 
affirms the status of the Planning Board as lead agency within the meaning of, and for all purposes 
of complying with, SEQRA; (b) determines that the proceedings undertaken by the Planning Board 
as lead agency under SEQRA with respect to the acquisition, construction and equipping of the 
Project satisfy the requirements of SEQRA, and ratifies and confirms such proceedings by the 
Planning Board as lead agency; and (c) determines that all of the provisions of SEQRA that are 
required to be complied with as a condition precedent to the approval of the Financial Assistance 
(as defined herein) contemplated by the Agency with respect to the Project and the participation 
by the Agency in undertaking the Project have been satisfied. 
 

Section 2. The Project is described in the recitals to this Resolution. The financial 
assistance to be provided in connection therewith include: (i) an exemption from sales and use taxes 
for building materials and machinery, equipment, fixtures and furnishings purchased for incorporation 
into or use at the Project location having a total cost not to exceed $25,247,000.00, (ii) an exemption 
from mortgage recording taxes for one or  more mortgages having an aggregate principal amount not 
to exceed $47,437,505.00, and (iii) an abatement from real property taxes in accordance with a 



4 
 

customized twenty (20) year payment in lieu of tax schedule in accordance with that certain Amherst 
Central Park Infrastructure Fund and PILOT Application Agreement to be entered into by the 
Agency, the Town of Amherst and Sweet Home Central School District (collectively, the “Financial 
Assistance”). The PILOT Schedule for the Project is set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto. In 
addition to any other covenants, obligations and agreements which may be contained in the Project 
Documents (as hereinafter defined), the provision by the Agency of the Financial Assistance is made 
subject to the agreement by the Company throughout the period during which the Company is 
receiving Financial Assistance from the Agency (the “Compliance Period”) to comply with the 
following covenants and agreements, each of which shall constitute a “Material Factor”: 

 
(a) compliance with the Agency’s Local Labor Policy in connection with the construction of 

the Project; 
 

(b) achievement of a total of sixty-eight (68) full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs at the Project 
within two years of Project completion and the retention of such jobs throughout the 
Compliance Period;  

 
(c) continued retention of two hundred and forty-seven (247) full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs 

at the Project Site throughout the Compliance Period; and 
 

(d) investment of not less than $57,162,505 in the acquisition, renovation and equipping of 
the Project.  

 
 Section 3. Pursuant to Section 862 of the Act, the Agency determines that the Project 
would be considered a “retail facility” and further determines that the Project qualifies as a medical 
project which generally does not qualify under the UTEP. However, based upon the Application and 
supporting documentation, including the Market Analysis, submitted by the Company, the Agency 
hereby determines that the Agency is permitted to provide financial assistance with respect to the 
Project because  (i) the predominant purpose of the Project would be to make available goods or 
services—specifically medical services in a multi-tenant, state-of-the-art, multi-disciplinary 
healthcare facility—which would not, but for the Project, be reasonably accessible to the residents of 
the Town of Amherst because of a lack of reasonably accessible retail trade facilities offering such 
goods or services;  and (ii) the Company has provided a Market Analysis which determined that the 
Project’s concentration of medical services, leading edge technology, and advanced research 
educational programming is not readily available in the Town of Amherst or Erie County, New York; 
and (iii) the Project will serve the public purpose of the Act by preserving permanent, private sector 
jobs and increasing the overall number of permanent, private sector jobs in New York State. 
Notwithstanding anything contained in this Resolution to the contrary, no Financial Assistance shall 
be provided to the Company by the Agency unless and until the Supervisor of the Town of Amherst 
confirms and approves the proposed action of the Agency as required pursuant to Section 862(2)(c) 
of the Act. 
 
 Section 4. The Agency further determines, based on the Company’s  Application, that the 
Project will not result in the removal of a civic, commercial, industrial, or manufacturing plant of the 
Company or any occupant of the Facility from one area of the State to another area of the State, or in 
the abandonment of one or more plants or facilities of the Company or any proposed occupant of the 



5 
 

Facility located within the State.  
 

 Section 5. The proposed Financial Assistance for the Project deviates from the UTEP 
as the proposed payment in lieu of real estate tax arrangement utilizes abatement percentages that 
differ from the standard abatement percentages under the UTEP and the duration of the PILOT 
schedule is longer than the standard schedules set forth in the UTEP. The Agency hereby approves 
of the deviation from the UTEP and authorizes the provision of the Financial Assistance as 
described herein. In making this determination, the Agency has considered the following factors 
as required by the Act and the UTEP, no single one of which is determinative:  
 

1. The extent to which the Project will create or retain permanent private sector jobs. The 
Project is expected to create seventy (70) full-time positions and twenty (20) part-time 
positions. The Project is expected to retain two hundred and thirty (230) full-time positions 
and thirty-five (35) part-time positions. 
 

2. The estimated value of tax exemptions to be provided. The estimated value of the sales and 
use tax benefit for the Project is an amount up to $2,209,112.00. The estimated value of the 
mortgage recording tax benefit is an amount up to $355,781.00. The estimated value of the 
real property tax benefit is $1,146,000. 
 

3. Whether affected taxing jurisdictions will be reimbursed by the Project occupant if the 
Project does not fulfill the purposes for which an exemption was provided. The Company 
will be subject to potential Financial Assistance recapture in the event the Company does 
not adhere to the Agency’s standard material terms and conditions governing the receipt of 
financial assistance. 
 

4. The impact of the proposed project on existing and proposed businesses and economic 
development projects in the vicinity. The impact of the Project is a positive one on the 
community, as it will promote job opportunities, general prosperity and economic welfare 
for the residents of Erie County and the Town of Amherst. The Project is the first 
development to capitalize a fund for infrastructure and community projects per the PILOT 
Agreement in an estimated amount of $11,990,000. 
 

5. The amount of private sector investment generated or likely to be generated by the 
proposed Project. The total private sector investment in the Project is expected to exceed 
$67,250,006. 

 
6. The demonstrated public support for the Project. The Town of Amherst has expressed its 

support for the Project. On July 8, 2020, the Town of Amherst Town Board adopted a 
resolution to amend its adopted Bicentennial Comprehensive Plan, which designed the 
Project’s location as appropriate for “Community Facilities” and to amend the Project 
location’s zoning classification. On August 18, 2020, the Town of Amherst’s Zoning Board 
of Appeals granted the required area variances for the Project. On May 20, 2021, the Town 
of Amherst Planning Board granted the Site Approval Plan for the Project. On September 
23, 2021, the Town of Amherst Planning Board approved an Amended Site Plan for the 
Project, which approved the public infrastructure components of the Project. 



6 
 

 
7. The likelihood of accomplishing the proposed Project in a timely fashion. The Project is 

expected to be completed in a timely manner. Construction is expected to begin in the 
winter of 2022, with completion in the winter of 2023. 

 
8. The effect of the proposed Project upon the environment. The Project is a Type I action 

pursuant to the State Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA). The Town of Amherst 
has served as lead agency for the coordinated environmental review of the Project pursuant 
to SEQRA, which encompasses 14.91 acres and off-site Right-of-Way improvements acres 
that are located on a portion of 500 Maple Road.  
 
As lead agency, the Town Board evaluated the environmental impacts of the Company’s 
request to amend the SEQRA Findings Statement to permit the Land to be developed as a 
163,000+/- square foot building to be utilized as a multi-tenant medical office building and 
UBMD surgery center, in addition to public infrastructure improvements including 
roadways and utility infrastructure improvements and connections. Negative declarations 
by the Town of Amherst Planning Board were each issued on July 6, 2020, May 20, 2021 
and September 23, 2021 at the completion of coordinated environmental reviews of the 
Project, determining that the proposed actions by the Company would not have a 
significant adverse effect on the environment. 
 

9. The extent to which the Project will utilize, to the fullest extent practicable and 
economically feasible, resource conservation, energy efficiency, green technologies, and 
alternative and renewable energy measures. The Company has indicated in its application 
that all mechanical equipment for the Project’s building core and shell will provide 
demonstrated energy efficiency benefits and utilize state-of-the-art components and 
designs. 
 

10. The extent to which the proposed Project will require the provision of additional services 
including, but not limited, educational, transportation, emergency medical or police and 
fire services. The Project is not expected to require the provision of additional services. 
 

11. The extent to which the proposed Project will provide additional sources of revenue for 
municipalities and school districts. The Project site currently consists of decommissioned 
athletic fields and greenspaces. The Project will generate additional sources of revenue 
from the PILOT payments which would otherwise not be received if the Project does not 
proceed.  
 

 Section 6. The Agency hereby authorizes the Company, as agent for the Agency, to 
proceed with the Project as herein authorized. The Agency is hereby authorized to acquire an interest 
in the Project site and the buildings thereon, if any, and to make renovations or additions thereto. The 
Company is authorized to proceed with the acquisition and construction of the Project as set forth in 
any Project Agreement, the Agency Lease Agreement or Installment Sale Contract (as hereinafter 
defined). 
 
 Section 7. The Chairman, Vice Chairman, Executive Director, Secretary, Treasurer, and 



7 
 

any Assistant Secretary of the Agency, and other appropriate officials of the Agency and its agents 
and employees, are hereby authorized and directed to do and cause to be done any and all acts and 
things necessary or proper for carrying out this Resolution and to complete the Project in cooperation 
with the Company. 
 
 Section 8. The Company is authorized, as agent of the Agency, to initiate the construction 
of a building(s) or building addition(s) constituting the Project, and the acquisition of machinery and 
equipment which will be a part thereof or will be used in connection therewith, and to advance such 
funds as may be necessary to accomplish such purposes. The designation of the Company as agent 
hereunder is limited to purchases of sales-taxable tangible personal property and services in 
connection with the Project which do not exceed a total cost of $25,247,000.00 and shall not apply to 
any other purchase by the Company or any operating expenses of the Company. The Company shall 
report to the Agency, at such times as the Agency shall require, or as may otherwise be prescribed by 
the Commissioner of the New York State Department of Taxation and Finance (the “Commissioner”), 
the value of all sales and use tax exemptions claimed by the Company or agents of the Company or 
any operators of the Project, including, but not limited to, consultants or subcontractors of such agents 
or Project operators under the authority granted pursuant to this Resolution.  A failure to report may 
result in the revocation of the designation of the Company as agent and repayment of any sales and 
use tax exemptions claimed. 
 
 Section 9. The Agency is hereby authorized to enter into a Project Agreement with 
respect the provision of the Financial Assistance authorized herein (the “Project Agreement”) and to 
acquire an interest in the Project site and construct a facility thereon, and the execution and delivery 
of a lease by the Company to the Agency (the “Company Lease”), an Agency Lease Agreement (the 
“Agency Lease Agreement”) or Installment Sale Contract (the “Installment Sale Contract”) between 
the Agency and the Company, the PILOT Agreement, and such other documents as may be necessary 
to fulfill the intent of the parties to the transaction (collectively, the “Project Documents”), in form 
satisfactory to Agency counsel, are hereby authorized.  The PILOT Agreement shall provide for 
payments in accordance with a customized twenty (20) year payment in lieu of tax schedule as set 
forth on Exhibit B. This Resolution is expressly made contingent on the execution and delivery of the 
Amherst Central Park Infrastructure Fund and PILOT Application Agreement to be entered into 
by the Agency, the Town of Amherst, and Sweet Home Central School District. The Chairman, 
Vice Chairman, Executive Director, Secretary, Treasurer, or any Assistant Secretary are each 
authorized to execute such documents and to make or approve such amendments or modifications to 
the Project Agreement, Company Lease, the Agency Lease Agreement, Installment Sale Contract, the 
PILOT Agreement and such other documents executed and delivered in connection therewith as they 
deem necessary under the circumstances provided, however, that such modifications do not materially 
alter the risk to the Agency. 
 
 Section 10. The Agency is hereby authorized to execute and deliver to the lender(s) one 
or more collateral mortgages on the Project given to secure one or more conventional loans, and such 
other documents as may be necessary to fulfill the intent of the parties to the transaction in form 
satisfactory to Agency counsel provided that the aggregate amount of such mortgages shall not exceed 
$47,437,505.00. The Chairman, Vice Chairman, Executive Director, Secretary, Treasurer, and any 
Assistant Secretary are each authorized to execute such collateral mortgages and to make or approve 
such amendment(s) or modifications to such collateral mortgages and other documents executed and 



8 
 

delivered in connection therewith as they may deem necessary under the circumstances, provided, 
however, that such modifications do not materially alter the risk to the Agency. 
 
 Section 11. Any such action heretofore taken by the Company initiating the acquisition, 
installation and construction of the Project is hereby ratified, confirmed and approved. 
  
 Section 12. Any expenses incurred by the Agency with respect to the Project and the 
financing thereof shall be paid by the Company. By acceptance hereof, the Company agrees to pay 
such expenses and further agrees to indemnify the Agency, its members, employees and agents and 
hold the Agency and such persons harmless against claims for losses, damage or injury or any 
expenses or damages incurred as a result of action taken by or on behalf of the Agency with respect 
to the Project and the financing thereof. 
 
 Section 13. In the event a lease is not executed between the Company and the Agency by 
the expiration date of this Resolution (as such date may be extended as provided herein) or the 
termination of this Resolution, the Company shall then be required to pay all sales taxes which would 
have been levied in connection with the acquisition, construction and installation of all improvements 
of the real property and the machinery and equipment which constitute the Project, as if the Agency 
did not have an interest in the Project from the date the Company commenced its acquisition, 
construction and installation.  In addition, in the event, because of the involvement of the Agency, the 
Company claims an exemption from state sales or use tax in connection with the Project, and such 
exemption is claimed with respect to property or services not authorized hereunder, or which 
exemption is in excess of the amounts authorized hereunder, or is otherwise not permitted under this 
Resolution, or if the Company shall fail to comply with a material term or condition regarding the use 
of property or services acquired by the Company as agent for the Agency as set forth in this Resolution 
or in any document authorized hereunder, then the Company  shall each be required to remit to the 
Agency an amount equal to the amount of state sales and use taxes for which such exemption was 
improperly claimed.  A failure to remit such amounts may result in an assessment against the 
Company by the Commissioner of state sales and use taxes, together with any relevant penalties and 
interest.  
 
  In addition to the foregoing, in the event the Agency determines that Company is 
in violation of a Material Factor, or in the event that the Company closes the Project or relocates 
its operations to a location outside of the Town of Amherst within the time period during which 
the Company is receiving Financial Assistance from the Agency or in the event the Agency 
determines, in its judgment, that the Company knowingly and intentionally submitted false or 
intentionally misleading information in its application to the Agency or in any report or 
certification submitted to the Agency for the purpose of obtaining or maintaining any Financial 
Assistance from the Agency (each referred to herein as a “Recapture Event”), the Agency may, in 
accordance with its policies and procedures then in effect, (i) revoke the designation of the 
Company and any agents of the Company (including, but not limited to, consultants, sub-
contractors or equipment lessors of the Company) as agents for the Agency in connection with the 
Project and terminate the exemption from New York State and local sales and use taxes conferred 
with respect to the Project and/or (ii) require that the Company, commencing with the tax fiscal year 
next following such Recapture Event make payments in lieu of taxes on the Project with respect to 
all applicable taxing authorities in such amounts as would be payable as real estate taxes levied on the 



9 
 

Project if the Agency did not have an interest in the Project or otherwise modify the amount or terms 
of any Financial Assistance being provided by the Agency in connection with the Project and/or (iii) 
require that the Company pay to the Agency an amount equal to all or a portion (as determined by 
the Agency in its discretion) of the total value of (x) all sales tax exemptions claimed by the 
Company and any agents of the Company, including, but not limited to, consultants, sub-
contractors, or any equipment lessors of the Company under the authority granted under this 
Resolution and the Project Agreement, (y) any exemption from real estate taxes received by reason 
of the Agency’s leasehold interest in the Project and/or (z) any exemption from mortgage recording 
tax received by reason of the Agency’s involvement with the Project.  If the Agency makes any of 
the foregoing determinations and requires a repayment of all or a portion of the Financial 
Assistance received by the Company, the Company shall (i) cooperate with the Agency in its 
efforts to recover or recapture any or all Financial Assistance obtained by the Company and (ii) 
promptly pay over any or all such amounts to the Agency that the Agency demands in connection 
therewith. Upon receipt of such amounts, the Agency shall then redistribute such amounts to the 
appropriate affected tax jurisdiction(s) unless otherwise agreed to by any affected tax jurisdiction. 
 
 Section 14. The Agency has made and makes no representation or warranty whatsoever, 
either express or implied, with respect to the merchantability, condition, environmental status, fitness, 
design, operation or workmanship of any part of the Project, its fitness for any particular purpose, the 
quality or capacity of the materials in the Project, or the suitability of the Project for the Company’s 
purposes or needs.  The Company is satisfied that the Project is suitable and fit for its purposes.  The 
Agency shall not be liable in any manner whatsoever to anyone for any loss, damage or expense of 
any kind or nature caused, directly or indirectly, by the Project property or the use or maintenance 
thereof or the failure of operation thereof, or the repair, service or adjustment thereof, or by any delay 
or failure to provide any such maintenance, repairs, service or adjustment, or by any interruption of 
service or loss of use thereof or for any loss of business howsoever caused, and the Company each 
hereby indemnifies and holds the Agency harmless from any such loss, damage or expense. 
 
 Section 15. Should the appropriate officers of the Agency determine, in their absolute 
discretion, that there is reason to believe that the activities of any past or present owner or operator of 
the Premises have resulted in the generation of any “hazardous substance“ (as the term has been 
defined from time to time in any applicable federal or state law, rule or regulation), or that any party 
has stored, disposed or released any such substance on the Premises or within a one (1) mile radius 
thereof, the Agency shall be under no obligation to enter into a lease as contemplated by this 
Resolution.  
 
 Section 16. No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement herein contained or 
contained in the Project Agreement, Company Lease, the Mortgage Agreement, the Agency Lease 
Agreement, Installment Sale Contract, the PILOT Agreement or other documents, nor the breach 
thereof, shall constitute or give rise to or impose upon the Agency a pecuniary liability or a charge 
upon its general credit, nor shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of 
any member, officer, agent or employee of the Agency in his or her individual capacity.   
 
 Section 17. Should the Agency’s participation in the Project be challenged by any party, 
in the courts or otherwise, the Company shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Agency and 
its members, officers and employees from any and all losses arising from any such challenge 



10 
 

including, but not limited to, the fees and disbursements of the Agency’s counsel.  Should any court 
of competent jurisdiction determine that the Agency is not authorized under Article 18-A of the 
General Municipal Law to participate in the Project, this Resolution shall automatically become null, 
void and of no further force and effect, and the Agency shall have no liability to the Company  
hereunder or otherwise.   
 
 Section 18. This Resolution shall take effect immediately and shall continue in full force 
and effect for one  (1) year from the date hereof and on or after such one  (1) year anniversary, the 
Agency may, at its option either (a) terminate the effectiveness of this Resolution (except with respect 
to the obligations of the Company pursuant to Sections 12, 13 and 17 of this Resolution which shall 
survive any expiration or termination) or (b) allow the Company additional time in which to close the 
transactions contemplated by this Resolution based upon affirmative actions taken by the Company 
to complete such transactions.  Upon any allowance of additional time to close, the Agency may 
charge the Company an extension fee in accordance with the Agency’s fee schedule. 
 
 Section 19. This Resolution is subject to compliance with all local building and zoning 
requirements. 
 
 
DATED:  December 17, 2021 
 
 
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO: _______________, 2021 
       
 
       
      111 NORTH MAPLEMERE LLC 
 
 
      By: _________________________________ 

              Name: 
                          Title: 
        
 



11 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

       EAF and SEQRA Findings 
 
 

























































12 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

PILOT Schedule 
 
Consistent with the provisions of the Amherst Central Park Infrastructure Fund and PILOT 
Application Agreement to be entered into by the Agency, the Town of Amherst, New York and 
Sweet Home Central School District, the Agency and the Company will enter into an Agreement 
for Payment in Lieu of Real Estate Taxes (“PILOT Agreement”) for a term of twenty (20) years, 
with annual abatement percentages in accordance with the following schedule:   

 
Year COLUMN 1:  

 
PILOT Abatement 
Schedule Applicable to 
Improvements 
Constructed on Lots   

COLUMN 2:  
 
Percentage of 
Town and 
School District 
PILOT 
Payments to be 
Directed to the 
Fund 

COLUMN 3: 
 
Percentage of 
Town and School 
District PILOT 
Payments to be 
Directed to the 
Town and School 
District  
 

COLUMN 4: 
 
Percentage of 
County PILOT 
Payments to be 
Paid to the 
County 

1 20% 100% 0 100% 
2 20% 100% 0 100% 
3 20% 100% 0 100% 
4 20% 100% 0 100% 
5 20% 100% 0 100% 
6 10% 100% 0 100% 
7 10% 100% 0 100% 
8 10% 100% 0 100% 
9 10% 100% 0 100% 
10 10% 100% 0 100% 
11 0 90% 10% 100% 
12 0 90% 10% 100% 
13 0 90% 10% 100% 
14 0 90% 10% 100% 
15 0 90% 10% 100% 
16 0 80% 20% 100% 
17 0 80% 20% 100% 
18 0 80% 20% 100% 
19 0 80% 20% 100% 
20 0 80% 20% 100% 

 
 
   
 
 











 

 

 Commercial Project under NYS 
Law  

 

 Property Tax =  $6,507,039 
 Sales Tax = $2,263,000 
 Mortgage Tax= $405,961 
 
 

 Property Taxes = $4,521,841 
 Income Taxes = $2,084,000 
 Sales Taxes = $1,334,000 
 
 

 497 Construction Jobs Created  
 9 Full-Time Jobs Created 
 2 Part-Time Jobs Created 
 Average Salary of New Jobs =  

$40,000 
 

 December 2021 - Project Begins   
 July 2023 - Project Complete 
 
 
 

E  

C  I  (E .)  

P  B  (E .)  

E  

Company Description:  
 
The project applicant is Aspen Heights, a national student housing developer based in Austin, Texas 
with over $1.6 billion in multifamily residential and student development and management since its 
founding in 2006.  Aspen Heights’ focus on quality and construction and development creating       
designs that integrate into the community has enabled the company to build a strong track record with 
projects throughout the mid-west and south.  The nearest facility is located in Syracuse, New York. 
 
Project Description: 
 
Aspen Heights, through Amherst NY Properties KP6, LLC, is proposing to construct and manage a  
multi-phase student housing development on the Muir Woods parcel to include 830 beds in cottage/
townhome style units. This project was previously induced in April 2021 for York Acquisitions, LLC to 
undertake the project, but the change to an unrelated corporate entity requires further Agency approval.  
The developer is  faced with estimates of $5,000,000 in extraordinary off-site public benefit               
infrastructure  expenses as directed by the New York State Department of Transportation and others.  
Included in these costs is  design allowance for a future NFTA Metro Light Rail or Enhanced Transit 
Stop.  Construction costs, through material and labor increases caused by the pandemic, impact the   
feasibility of the project. 
 
The proposed project is a deviation from the uniform tax exemption policy and leverages a payment in 
lieu of tax (PILOT) arrangement to mitigate extraordinary expenses not limited to roadway widening, 
traffic circle, water and sewer extensions and electric utility infrastructure.  Any project proposed for 
this site would require similar off-site infrastructure.  Upon construction, the public infrastructure      
improvements will be transferred to the requisite entities. 
            

PROJECT PROFILE: 
ASPEN - MUIR WOODS INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
$83,273,930 
December 17, 2021 
 

Investment: 
Land Acquisition:      $4,500,000 
Construction:        $68,024,916 
Soft/Other Costs:    $10,749,014 

Project Address: 
1081 North French Road 
Amherst, New York 14221 
(Sweet Home School District) 

P  S  



 

 

PROJECT PROFILE: 
ASPEN - MUIR WOODS INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT 
$83,273,930 

AIDA C  H :  

Page 2 

M  T :  

 
 None 

 
1. Investment of not less than $70,782,840 at the project location and on off-site 

infrastructure as noted in the application. 
 
2. Successful completion of construction of off-site infrastructure and transfer of 

ownership to the requisite entities. 
 
3. Creation and of 9 full time equivalent jobs at the project location and           

maintaining these jobs for the duration of the PILOT. 
 
4.  Compliance with the Agency’s Local Labor Policy in connection with the             

construction of the Project. 















1 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF AMHERST INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AUTHORIZING THE ACQUISITION,  
CONSTRUCTION AND EQUIPPING OF A RESIDENTIAL STUDENT 
HOUSING DEVELOPMENT BY AMHERST NY PROPERTIES KP6, LLC, 
TO BE LOCATED AT 1081 NORTH FRENCH ROAD, AMHERST, NEW 
YORK, FOR LEASE OR SALE TO THE AGENCY AND SUBSEQUENT 
LEASE OR RECONVEYANCE PURSUANT TO A LEASE OR AN 
INSTALLMENT SALE CONTRACT TO AMHERST NY PROPERTIES KP6, 
LLC, THE EXECUTION OF A MORTGAGE AGREEMENT, LEASE 
AGREEMENT AND/OR INSTALLMENT SALE CONTRACT, A 
CUSTOMIZED PILOT AGREEMENT AND THE TAKING OF OTHER 
ACTIONS. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Town of Amherst Industrial Development Agency (the “Agency”) is 
authorized under the laws of the State of New York, and in particular the New York State Industrial 
Development Agency Act, constituting Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, Chapter 
24 of the Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended, and Section 914-a of the General Municipal 
Law, as amended (collectively, the “Act”), to promote, develop, encourage and assist in the acquiring, 
constructing, reconstructing, improving, maintaining, equipping and furnishing of industrial, 
manufacturing, warehousing, commercial and research facilities and thereby advance the job 
opportunities, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of the State of New York and to 
improve their prosperity and standard of living; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Amherst NY Properties KP6, LLC, for itself or for affiliated individuals or 
entities (collectively, the “Company”), has submitted an application to the Agency requesting the 
Agency to undertake a certain project (the “Project”) consisting of: (a) the acquisition of a 
leasehold interest in a parcel of vacant land located at 1081 North French Road in the Town of 
Amherst, New York (the “Land”); (b) the construction thereon of a student housing development 
to include up to 830 beds in cottage/townhome style units, a clubhouse area and related amenities 
and improvements (the “Improvements”); and (c) the acquisition and installation therein, thereon 
or thereabout of certain machinery, equipment and related personal property (the “Equipment”); 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, this Project was previously induced by the Agency on April 23, 2021 based on 
an application submitted by York Acquisitions, LLC (“York”); and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency was recently informed that the Project owner/occupant will be the 
Company, which is not directly affiliated or controlled by York and York would have no continuing 
interest in the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency requested that the Company submit a new application, and the 
Company has submitted an application and other materials and information (collectively, the 
“Application”) to the Agency to initiate the accomplishment of the above; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Application sets forth certain information with respect to the Company and 
the Project, including the following: that the Company desires Agency financing for the construction 



2 
 

of an 830+/- bed student housing development, to be located at 1081 North French Road, Amherst, 
New York, all at a cost of approximately $83,274,000; that the Company anticipates that nine (9) full-
time equivalent (FTE) employment positions will be created; that (i) the Project will provide 
substantial capital investment, including a commitment from the Company to undertake and complete 
significant off-site infrastructure improvements; (ii) that if Agency financing is disapproved, the 
Company would likely not proceed with the Project; and that, therefore, Agency financing is 
necessary to encourage the Company to proceed with the Project; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Section IV of the Countywide Uniform Tax Exemption Policy the (“UTEP”) 
permits the Agency to deviate from its standard payment in lieu of taxes agreement schedule in 
accordance with the requirements set forth in the UTEP and applicable provisions of the General 
Municipal Law; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 874(4)(b) of the General Municipal Law and the UTEP, the 
Agency duly delivered a notice of deviation on February 16, 2021 to the chief executive officers of 
each of the affected taxing jurisdictions and the industrial development agencies located in Erie 
County regarding the proposed non-standard PILOT Agreement for the Project; and   
 
 WHEREAS, after the giving of all required notices (including published notice), the Agency 
held a public hearing on the Project on  December 17, 2021, and has considered all oral and written 
presentations made at or in connection with said public hearing; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency has reviewed the Application, prepared a cost-benefit analysis with 
respect to the Project and considered the extent to which the Project will create and retain permanent, 
private-sector jobs, the value of tax exemptions to be provided, the amount of private sector 
investment generated or likely to be generated by the Project, the likelihood of accomplishing the 
proposed Project in a timely fashion, the extent to which the proposed Project will provide additional 
sources of revenue for the municipalities and school district and other public benefits that might occur 
as a result of the Project; and   
  
  WHEREAS, the Agency desires to encourage the Company with respect to the 
consummation of the Project, if by doing so it is able to induce the Company to proceed with the 
Project in the Town of Amherst; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Company has determined it will complete the Project by obtaining a 
conventional loan(s) from a third party, and the Company has requested that the Agency execute any 
and all documents required by the parties, including any collateral mortgages on the Project given to 
secure a loan(s) obtained by the Company to finance the cost of the Project; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Town of Amherst Planning Board (the “Planning Board”) served as lead 
agency pursuant to the State Environmental Quality Review Act (ECL Article 8 and its 
implementing regulations at 6 NYCRR Part 617) (“SEQRA”) for the Company’s project. The 
Agency was duly identified as an involved agency in Part 1 of a long-form Environmental 
Assessment Form (“EAF”) which was completed for the Project, a copy of which was provided to 
the Agency and is attached hereto as part of Exhibit A; and 
 



3 
 

 WHEREAS, on April 15, 2021, the Planning Board made a determination that the 
requirements of SEQRA were complete, and that the project is not expected to have a significant 
adverse effect on the environment (the “SEQRA Findings”). A copy of the SEQRA Findings is 
attached hereto as part of Exhibit A. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE TOWN OF AMHERST INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 
AGENCY HEREBY RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  
 
 Section 1.  Based upon the Agency’s review of the Company’s Application, the EAF 
and the SEQRA Findings issued by the Planning Board, the Agency hereby: (a) consents to and 
affirms the status of the Planning Board as lead agency within the meaning of, and for all purposes 
of complying with, SEQRA; (b) determines that the proceedings undertaken by the Planning Board 
as lead agency under SEQRA with respect to the acquisition, construction and equipping of the 
Project satisfy the requirements of SEQRA, and ratifies and confirms such proceedings by the 
Planning Board as lead agency; and (c) determines that all of the provisions of SEQRA that are 
required to be complied with as a condition precedent to the approval of the Financial Assistance 
(as defined herein) contemplated by the Agency with respect to the Project and the participation 
by the Agency in undertaking the Project have been satisfied. 
 

Section 2. The Project is described in the recitals to this Resolution. The financial 
assistance to be provided in connection therewith include: (i) an exemption from sales and use taxes 
for building materials and machinery, equipment, fixtures and furnishings purchased for incorporation 
into or use at the Project location having a total cost not to exceed $25,851,573.00, (ii) an exemption 
from mortgage recording taxes for one or  more mortgages having an aggregate principal amount not 
to exceed $54,128,260.00, and (iii) an abatement from real property taxes in accordance with a 
customized ten (10) year payment in lieu of tax schedule as set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto 
(collectively, the “Financial Assistance”). In addition to any other covenants, obligations and 
agreements which may be contained in the Project Documents (as hereinafter defined), the provision 
by the Agency of the Financial Assistance is made subject to the agreement by the Company 
throughout the period during which the Company is receiving Financial Assistance from the Agency 
(the “Compliance Period”) to comply with the following covenants and agreements, each of which 
shall constitute a “Material Factor”: 

 
(a) compliance with the Agency’s Local Labor Policy in connection with the construction of 

the Project; 
 

(b) achievement of a total of nine (9) full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs at the Project within 
two years of Project completion and the retention of such jobs throughout the Compliance 
Period;   

 
(c) successful completion of construction of all off-site infrastructure and transfer of 

ownership to the requisite entities; and 
 

(d) investment of not less than $70,782,840 in the acquisition, renovation and equipping of 
the Project.  

 



4 
 

 Section 3. The Project is for a commercial purpose within meaning of the Act. The 
Project will be located in a section of Town of Amherst that is in need of residential housing units of 
the kind and quality proposed by the Company. The Project is consistent with the Town of Amherst 
Comprehensive Plan, which provides for additional housing opportunities and choices, including 
higher density housing. In making this determination, the Agency has also considered the following 
factors which further support its findings: (i) the Project has the support of the Town of Amherst 
government; (ii) the Project is compliant with the investment and growth criteria of the Town of 
Amherst Comprehensive Plan calling for a strong tax base and development in convenient and 
accessible locations; (iii) a northerly extension of John James Audubon Parkway has been 
designated for development for the past 50 years and the Company has agreed to undertake and 
complete substantial off-site infrastructure improvements in connection with the Project; and (iv) the 
Company has provided appropriate evidence demonstrating the financial obstacles to the 
development of the Project without Agency assistance. 
 
 Section 4.  The proposed Financial Assistance for the Project deviates from the UTEP 
as the proposed payment in lieu of real estate tax arrangement utilizes abatement percentages that 
differ from the standard abatement percentages under the UTEP. The Agency hereby approves of 
the deviation from the UTEP and authorizes the provision of the Financial Assistance as 
described herein.  In making this determination, the Agency has considered the following factors 
as required by the Act and the UTEP, no single one of which is determinative:  
 

1. The extent to which the Project will create or retain permanent private sector jobs.  The 
Project is expected to create nine full-time positions and two part-time positions, with an 
estimated annual total payroll of $539,660.00.  
 

2. The estimated value of tax exemptions to be provided. The estimated value of the sales and 
use tax benefit for the Project is an amount up to $2,262,013.00. The estimated value of 
the mortgage recording tax benefit is an amount up to $405,961.00. The estimated value of 
the real property tax benefit is $6,507,039.00. 
 

3. Whether affected taxing jurisdictions will be reimbursed by the Project occupant if the 
Project does not fulfill the purposes for which an exemption was provided.  The Company 
will be subject to potential financial assistance recapture in the event the Applicant does 
not adhere to the Agency’s standard material terms and conditions governing the receipt of 
financial assistance. 
 

4. The impact of the proposed project on existing and proposed businesses and economic 
development projects in the vicinity.  The impact of the Project is a positive one on the 
community, as it will promote job opportunities, general prosperity and economic welfare 
for the residents of Erie County and the Town of Amherst. The Company has committed to 
making significant off-site infrastructure improvements that will benefit the Project site 
and facilitate additional development adjacent to the Project. The Company has identified 
in its Application the following improvements and associated costs (the aggregate 
estimated cost of which is $4,946,871.00):  

(i) W/S Line Extension to Main at Dodge Road: $2,051,943.00;  



5 
 

(ii) John Jay Audubon Extension w/onsite roundabout: $876,169.00  

(iii) National Grid Line Extension to Dodge Road - $1,198,026.00;  

(iv) Roundabout at John James Audubon Parkway and 1-990 as required by the 
NYS Department of Transportation - $350,000.00;  

(v) Lane widening for exit ramps of the 1-990 as required by the NYS 
Department of Transportation - $275,000.00;  

(vi) Paved secondary emergency access/recreational trail connecting to Dodge 
Road - $145,733,00  

(vii) DOT - Design and Engineering: $50,000.00 
 

5. The amount of private sector investment generated or likely to be generated by the 
proposed Project.  The total private sector investment in the Project is expected to exceed 
$83,273,930.00. 

 
6. The demonstrated public support for the Project.  The Town of Amherst has expressed its 

support for the Project. The Town Board approved the Company’s request for a special use 
permit for dormitory use on November 12, 2019. On April 15, 2021, the Town of Amherst 
Planning Board granted Site Plan Approval for the Project. 
 

7. The likelihood of accomplishing the proposed Project in a timely fashion. The Project is 
expected to be completed in a timely manner. Construction is expected to begin in the 
fall/winter of 2021, with completion in the summer of 2023. 

 
8. The effect of the proposed Project upon the environment.  The Town of Amherst has served 

as lead agency for the coordinated environmental review pursuant to the State 
Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA) for the Muir Woods Project, which 
encompasses 326+/- acres that are located generally north of the I-990, south of North 
French Road, east of Sweet Home Road and west of Campbell Boulevard. The Project that 
is the subject of the Company’s request for Financial Assistance will be located on Site B, 
which consists of approximately 46 acres of the Muir Woods Project site. As lead agency, 
the Town Board evaluated the environmental impacts of the Company’s request to amend 
the SEQRA Findings Statement to permit Site B to be developed as a student housing 
community to include a maximum of 515 units. On August 5, 2019, the Town approved an 
amendment to the Findings Statement to permit student housing at the site based on its 
determination that the potential modifications to the Muir Woods Project would not result 
in any potentially significant adverse environmental impacts that were not thoroughly 
evaluated in connection with the previous comprehensive environmental review of the 
Project that concluded with the issuance of a Findings Statement on December 7, 2007 and 
the issuance of an Amended Findings Statement on December 7, 2015.  On April 15, 2021, 
the Town of Amherst Planning Board approved the site plan for the project and made a 
finding that the requirements of SEQRA were complete, and that the project is not expected 
to have a significant adverse effect on the environment. 
 



6 
 

9. The extent to which the Project will utilize, to the fullest extent practicable and 
economically feasible, resource conservation, energy efficiency, green technologies, and 
alternative and renewable energy measures. The Company is exploring environmentally 
responsible construction such as green infrastructure and renewable energy systems. 
 

10. The extent to which the proposed Project will require the provision of additional services 
including, but not limited, educational, transportation, emergency medical or police and 
fire services.  The Project is not expected to require the provision of additional services. 
 

11. The extent to which the proposed Project will provide additional sources of revenue for 
municipalities and school districts. The Project site currently consists of vacant land. The 
Project will generate additional sources of revenue from the PILOT payments which would 
otherwise not be received if the Project does not proceed.  
 

 Section 5. The Agency hereby authorizes the Company, as agent for the Agency, to 
proceed with the Project as herein authorized. The Agency is hereby authorized to acquire an interest 
in the Project site and the buildings thereon, if any, and to make renovations or additions thereto.  The 
Company is authorized to proceed with the acquisition and construction of the Project as set forth in 
any Project Agreement, the Agency Lease Agreement or Installment Sale Contract (as hereinafter 
defined). 
 
 Section 6. The Chairman, Vice Chairman, Executive Director, Secretary, Treasurer, and 
any Assistant Secretary of the Agency, and other appropriate officials of the Agency and its agents 
and employees, are hereby authorized and directed to do and cause to be done any and all acts and 
things necessary or proper for carrying out this Resolution and to complete the Project in cooperation 
with the Company. 
 
 Section 7. The Company is authorized, as agent of the Agency, to initiate the construction 
of a building(s) or building addition(s) constituting the Project, and the acquisition of machinery and 
equipment which will be a part thereof or will be used in connection therewith, and to advance such 
funds as may be necessary to accomplish such purposes.  The designation of the Company as agent 
hereunder is limited to purchases of sales-taxable tangible personal property and services in 
connection with the Project which do not exceed a total cost of $25,851,573.00 and shall not apply to 
any other purchase by the Company or any operating expenses of the Company. The Company shall 
report to the Agency, at such times as the Agency shall require, or as may otherwise be prescribed by 
the Commissioner of the New York State Department of Taxation and Finance (the “Commissioner”), 
the value of all sales and use tax exemptions claimed by the Company or agents of the Company or 
any operators of the Project, including, but not limited to, consultants or subcontractors of such agents 
or Project operators under the authority granted pursuant to this Resolution.  A failure to report may 
result in the revocation of the designation of the Company as agent and repayment of any sales and 
use tax exemptions claimed. 
 
 Section 8. The Agency is hereby authorized to enter into a Project Agreement with 
respect the provision of the Financial Assistance authorized herein (the “Project Agreement”) and to 
acquire an interest in the Project site and construct a facility thereon, and the execution and delivery 
of a lease by the Company to the Agency (the “Company Lease”), an Agency Lease Agreement (the 



7 
 

“Agency Lease Agreement”) or Installment Sale Contract (the “Installment Sale Contract”) between 
the Agency and the Company, the PILOT Agreement, and such other documents as may be necessary 
to fulfill the intent of the parties to the transaction (collectively, the “Project Documents”), in form 
satisfactory to Agency counsel, are hereby authorized.  The PILOT Agreement shall provide for 
payments in accordance with a customized ten (10) year payment in lieu of tax schedule as set forth 
on Exhibit B. The Chairman, Vice Chairman, Executive Director, Secretary, Treasurer, or any 
Assistant Secretary are each authorized to execute such documents and to make or approve such 
amendments or modifications to the Project Agreement, Company Lease, the Agency Lease 
Agreement, Installment Sale Contract, the PILOT Agreement and such other documents executed and 
delivered in connection therewith as they deem necessary under the circumstances provided, however, 
that such modifications do not materially alter the risk to the Agency. 
 
 Section 9. In the event the Company obtains one or more conventional loans to finance 
the cost of the Project or which will otherwise be secured by a lien on the Project, the Agency is 
hereby authorized to execute and deliver to the lender(s) one or more collateral mortgages on the 
Project given to secure such loans, and such other documents as may be necessary to fulfill the intent 
of the parties to the transaction in form satisfactory to Agency counsel provided that the aggregate 
amount of such mortgages shall not exceed $54,128,260.00. The Chairman, Vice Chairman, 
Executive Director, Secretary, Treasurer, and any Assistant Secretary are each authorized to execute 
such collateral mortgages and to make or approve such amendment(s) or modifications to such 
collateral mortgages and other documents executed and delivered in connection therewith as they may 
deem necessary under the circumstances, provided, however, that such modifications do not 
materially alter the risk to the Agency. 
 
 Section 10. Any such action heretofore taken by the Company initiating the acquisition, 
installation and construction of the Project is hereby ratified, confirmed and approved. 
  
 Section 11. Any expenses incurred by the Agency with respect to the Project and the 
financing thereof shall be paid by the Company.  By acceptance hereof, the Company agrees to pay 
such expenses and further agrees to indemnify the Agency, its members, employees and agents and 
hold the Agency and such persons harmless against claims for losses, damage or injury or any 
expenses or damages incurred as a result of action taken by or on behalf of the Agency with respect 
to the Project and the financing thereof. 
 
 Section 12. In the event a lease is not executed between the Company and the Agency by 
the expiration date of this Resolution (as such date may be extended as provided herein) or the 
termination of this Resolution, the Company shall then be required to pay all sales taxes which would 
have been levied in connection with the acquisition, construction and installation of all improvements 
of the real property and the machinery and equipment which constitute the Project, as if the Agency 
did not have an interest in the Project from the date the Company commenced its acquisition, 
construction and installation.  In addition, in the event, because of the involvement of the Agency, the 
Company claims an exemption from state sales or use tax in connection with the Project, and such 
exemption is claimed with respect to property or services not authorized hereunder, or which 
exemption is in excess of the amounts authorized hereunder, or is otherwise not permitted under this 
Resolution, or if the Company shall fail to comply with a material term or condition regarding the use 
of property or services acquired by the Company as agent for the Agency as set forth in this Resolution 



8 
 

or in any document authorized hereunder, then the Company  shall each be required to remit to the 
Agency an amount equal to the amount of state sales and use taxes for which such exemption was 
improperly claimed.  A failure to remit such amounts may result in an assessment against the 
Company by the Commissioner of state sales and use taxes, together with any relevant penalties and 
interest.  
 
  In addition to the foregoing, in the event the Agency determines that Company is 
in violation of a Material Factor, or in the event that the Company closes the Project or relocates 
its operations to a location outside of the Town of Amherst within the time period during which 
the Company is receiving Financial Assistance from the Agency or in the event the Agency 
determines, in its judgment, that the Company knowingly and intentionally submitted false or 
intentionally misleading information in its application to the Agency or in any report or 
certification submitted to the Agency for the purpose of obtaining or maintaining any Financial 
Assistance from the Agency (each referred to herein as a “Recapture Event”), the Agency may, in 
accordance with its policies and procedures then in effect, (i) revoke the designation of the 
Company and any agents of the Company (including, but not limited to, consultants, sub-
contractors or equipment lessors of the Company) as agents for the Agency in connection with the 
Project and terminate the exemption from New York State and local sales and use taxes conferred 
with respect to the Project and/or (ii) require that the Company, commencing with the tax fiscal year 
next following such Recapture Event make payments in lieu of taxes on the Project with respect to 
all applicable taxing authorities in such amounts as would be payable as real estate taxes levied on the 
Project if the Agency did not have an interest in the Project or otherwise modify the amount or terms 
of any Financial Assistance being provided by the Agency in connection with the Project and/or (iii) 
require that the Company pay to the Agency an amount equal to all or a portion (as determined by 
the Agency in its discretion) of the total value of (x) all sales tax exemptions claimed by the 
Company and any agents of the Company, including, but not limited to, consultants, sub-
contractors, or any equipment lessors of the Company under the authority granted under this 
Resolution and the Project Agreement, (y) any exemption from real estate taxes received by reason 
of the Agency’s leasehold interest in the Project and/or (z) any exemption from mortgage recording 
tax received by reason of the Agency’s involvement with the Project.  If the Agency makes any of 
the foregoing determinations and requires a repayment of all or a portion of the Financial 
Assistance received by the Company, the Company shall (i) cooperate with the Agency in its 
efforts to recover or recapture any or all Financial Assistance obtained by the Company and (ii) 
promptly pay over any or all such amounts to the Agency that the Agency demands in connection 
therewith. Upon receipt of such amounts, the Agency shall then redistribute such amounts to the 
appropriate affected tax jurisdiction(s) unless otherwise agreed to by any affected tax jurisdiction. 
 
 Section 13. The Agency has made and makes no representation or warranty whatsoever, 
either express or implied, with respect to the merchantability, condition, environmental status, fitness, 
design, operation or workmanship of any part of the Project, its fitness for any particular purpose, the 
quality or capacity of the materials in the Project, or the suitability of the Project for the Company’s 
purposes or needs.  The Company is satisfied that the Project is suitable and fit for its purposes.  The 
Agency shall not be liable in any manner whatsoever to anyone for any loss, damage or expense of 
any kind or nature caused, directly or indirectly, by the Project property or the use or maintenance 
thereof or the failure of operation thereof, or the repair, service or adjustment thereof, or by any delay 
or failure to provide any such maintenance, repairs, service or adjustment, or by any interruption of 



9 
 

service or loss of use thereof or for any loss of business howsoever caused, and the Company each 
hereby indemnifies and holds the Agency harmless from any such loss, damage or expense. 
 
 Section 14. Should the appropriate officers of the Agency determine, in their absolute 
discretion, that there is reason to believe that the activities of any past or present owner or operator of 
the Premises have resulted in the generation of any “hazardous substance“ (as the term has been 
defined from time to time in any applicable federal or state law, rule or regulation), or that any party 
has stored, disposed or released any such substance on the Premises or within a one (1) mile radius 
thereof, the Agency shall be under no obligation to enter into a lease as contemplated by this 
Resolution.  
 
 Section 15. No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement herein contained or 
contained in the Project Agreement, Company Lease, the Mortgage Agreement, the Agency Lease 
Agreement, Installment Sale Contract, the PILOT Agreement or other documents, nor the breach 
thereof, shall constitute or give rise to or impose upon the Agency a pecuniary liability or a charge 
upon its general credit, nor shall be deemed to be a covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of 
any member, officer, agent or employee of the Agency in his or her individual capacity.   
 
 Section 16. Should the Agency’s participation in the Project be challenged by any party, 
in the courts or otherwise, the Company shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Agency and 
its members, officers and employees from any and all losses arising from any such challenge 
including, but not limited to, the fees and disbursements of the Agency’s counsel.  Should any court 
of competent jurisdiction determine that the Agency is not authorized under Article 18-A of the 
General Municipal Law to participate in the Project, this Resolution shall automatically become null, 
void and of no further force and effect, and the Agency shall have no liability to the Company  
hereunder or otherwise.   
 
 Section 17. This Resolution shall take effect immediately and shall continue in full force 
and effect for two (2) years from the date hereof and on or after such two (2) year anniversary, the 
Agency may, at its option either (a) terminate the effectiveness of this Resolution (except with respect 
to the obligations of the Company pursuant to Sections 11, 12 and 16 of this Resolution which shall 
survive any expiration or termination) or (b) allow the Company additional time in which to close the 
transactions contemplated by this Resolution based upon affirmative actions taken by the Company 
to complete such transactions.  Upon any allowance of additional time to close, the Agency may 
charge the Company an extension fee in accordance with the Agency’s fee schedule. 
 
 Section 18. This Resolution is subject to compliance with all local building and zoning 
requirements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



10 
 

 
  
DATED:  December 17, 2021 
 
 
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO: _______________, 2021 
       
 
      AMHERST NY PROPERTIES KP6, LLC, 
 
 
 
      By: _________________________________ 

              Name: 
                          Title: 
        
 



11 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

       EAF and SEQRA Findings 
 
 

































 

 

TOWN OF AMHERST 
PLANNING BOARD 

SITE PLAN RESOLUTION 
SP-2020-13 

 
PETITIONER       PROPERTY LOCATION 
 
Aspen Heights Student VI, LLC    1081 North French Road 
c/o Sean Hopkins, Esq. 
Hopkins Sorgi & McCarthy 
5500 Main St., Suite 343 
Williamsville, NY 14221  
     
 
 WHEREAS, the Town of Amherst Planning Board on Thursday, April 15, 2021 held a 
remote public hearing on a Site Plan for a student housing development, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Board reviewed the plans and specifications for the proposed 
project, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Site Plan was referred to the Town’s various review agencies, and 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 8-7-8 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Planning 
Board finds that: 
 
 A. The site plan includes usable space for active and passive recreation, including 

pedestrian connections. 
 
 B. The site plan does not include open space lands for public ownership but does 

include a 10-ft. wide public trail offered for dedication or other disposition to the 
Town or other public entity. 

 
 C. School sites and facilities are adequate to accommodate the proposed site plan. 
 
 D. The site plan includes the extension of roadways to adjacent property. 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 8-7-9 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Planning  
Board finds that: 
 
 A. The proposed site plan is consistent with the development plan if one is required. 
 
 B. The proposed site plan is consistent with the purpose and specific requirements of 

the Zoning Ordinance and generally consistent with the policies of the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 
 C. Adequate services and utilities will be available prior to occupancy. 



 

 

TOWN OF AMHERST 
PLANNING BOARD 

SITE PLAN RESOLUTION 
SP-2020-13 

 
PETITIONER       PROPERTY LOCATION 
 
Aspen Heights Student VI, LLC    1081 North French Road 
 
 
 D. The site plan is consistent with all other applicable laws. 
 
 E. Pursuant to Local Law #3-82, as amended, the Planning Board has determined 

that the requirements of SEQR are complete and that the subject proposal is not 
expected to have a significant adverse effect on the environment. 

 
 F. Wetland permits were issued for this project by NYSDEC on December 17, 2019 

and the US Army Corps of Engineers under Section 404 of the Clean Water Act 
on December 12, 2019.  Both permits authorize work on the project until 
November 30, 2024. 

 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that pursuant to Local Law #3-82, as 
amended, the Planning Board determines that the requirements of SEQR are complete and that 
the subject proposal is not expected to have a significant adverse effect on the environment, and 
 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Planning Board 
determines that the project is consistent with the SEQR Findings Statement issued by the Town 
Board on October 19, 2020, and 
 
 NOW THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Planning Board, in 
accordance with Section 8-7 of the Zoning Ordinance approves said Site Plan subject to the 
following conditions: 
 

1. That the consideration of signs is specifically excluded from this approval as they 
require a separate review and approval by the Town. 

 
2. That all dumpsters/trash containers and all mechanical equipment, utility structures, 

multiple meter boards, generators, and similar appurtenances, including those which 
are mounted on any part of a primary structure shall be appropriately screened with a 
fence, wall, and/or landscaping.  Provide gate on dumpster enclosure that shall be 
closed whenever dumpster is not being serviced, enclosure shall be high enough to 
screen the dumpster(s) within. 

 
3. That as-built record drawings, including location of utilities, be provided to the 

Engineering Department prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy by the 
Building Department. 



 

 

TOWN OF AMHERST 
PLANNING BOARD 

SITE PLAN RESOLUTION 
SP-2020-13 

 
PETITIONER      PROPERTY LOCATION 
 
Aspen Heights Student VI, LLC    1081 North French Road 
 
 

4. That the comments of the Right-of-Way Agent dated April 14, 2021 be addressed. 
 
5. That a convenience split of the project site be put in place for tax billing purposes due 

to the site’s location in two different school districts, per the Assessor’s memo dated 
October 8, 2020. 

 
6. That a floodplain permit be obtained for this project. 
 
7. That the comments of the Fire Chiefs Association dated April 14, 2021 be addressed. 
 
8. That the comments of the Engineering Department dated April 6, 2021 be addressed. 
 
9. That the comments of the Plumbing Division dated October 6, 2020 be addressed. 
 
10. That the comments of the SWPPP reviewer dated April 1, 2021 be addressed. 
 
11. That the comments of the Traffic Safety Board dated April 8, 2021 be addressed. 
 
12. That the design of the emergency access road, including placement of any signage or 

gates and the right-of-way on either side, be subject to the approval of the Highway 
Department, the Attorney’s office, Fire Chiefs’ Association, and the Traffic Safety 
Board. 

 
13. That snowplowing of the proposed emergency access road be the responsibility of a 

private entity. 
 
14. That any additional required landscaping to meet Town Code per Zoning 

Enforcement Office and Landscape Architect comments be shown on plans. 
 
15. That additional walkway connection(s) to the proposed paved trail be provided to 

meet the circulation requirements of Section 203-5-2-7D of Town Code. 
 
16. That NYSDOT approval for the break-in-access to allow the extension of John James 

Audubon Parkway be obtained. 
  



 

 

TOWN OF AMHERST 
PLANNING BOARD 

SITE PLAN RESOLUTION 
SP-2020-13 

 
PETITIONER      PROPERTY LOCATION 
 
Aspen Heights Student VI, LLC    1081 North French Road 
 
 

17. That NYSDOT approval for the proposed relocation of the ditch located in the I-
990 expressway right-of-way be obtained. 

 
18. That easements for public use of the asphalt trail and public parking directly north 

of the northern terminus of John James Audubon Parkway be approved by the 
Town Attorney’s office. 

 
 
The foregoing resolution was adopted by the Town of Amherst Planning Board, April 15, 2021; 
moved by Giuliani; seconded by Chmiel; ayes 5, noes 0;  absent 2 (Gelber, Gill). 
 
 
  ___________________________   ___________ 
  Robert J. Gilmour, Chair  Date 
 
 
 
EK/ac 
X:\Current_Planning\Files\Site Plans\2020\SP-2020-13_(1081_North_French_Rd)_2020\SP-2020-13_Blurb_041521.doc_ 

cc: Town Clerk     Approved Plan:  Cannon Design 
 Commissioner of Building    Received:  March 22, 2021 
 Town Engineer     
 Fire Chiefs    
 Traffic/Safety    
 Highway Superintendent     
 ECDEP 
 NYSDOT 
 NYSDEC 
 Aspen Heights Partners, c/o Sean Hopkins, 5500 Main St., Suite 343, Williamsville, NY 14221 
 Greenman-Pedersen, Ken Zollitsch, 4950 Genesee St., Suite 100, Cheektowaga, NY 14225 

 
 



12 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

PILOT Schedule 
 

The Agency and the Company propose to enter into a PILOT Agreement with annual abatement 
percentages in accordance with the following schedule:  
    

Year Abatement Percentage 
1 70% 
2 70% 
3 70% 
4 60% 
5 60% 
6 60% 
7 50% 
8 50% 
9 50% 

10 50% 
 
 
The PILOT Agreement will have a term of ten (10) years.  
 
PILOT Payments shall be calculated as follows: 
 
With respect to the assessed value of the land and any pre-Project improvements (the “Pre-Project 
Assessment”), payments by the Company shall be in an amount equal to the amount of taxes that 
would have been paid were there no exemption based on the Agency’s leasehold interest in the 
Project. 
 
With respect to the assessed value added by the Project, payments by the Company shall in an 
amount equal to the assessed value added by the Project multiplied by the abatement percentage 
set forth in the PILOT schedule above.  
 
In accordance with Section 858(15) of the General Municipal Law, PILOT payments shall be 
allocated among the affected tax jurisdictions in proportion to the amount of real property tax and 
other taxes which would have been received by each affected tax jurisdiction had the Project not 
been tax exempt due to the status of the agency involved in the project. 
 


	AgndaPckt_Dec17
	Agenda_Dec1721
	Minutes_Dec621
	ACP Fund Administration Agreement (clean 12-01-21v2)
	ProjectProfile_111NorthMaplemere
	111NorthMaplemere_CB_12_2021
	Output

	111 North Maplemere LLC Inducement Resolution w Exhibits
	PHComments_111NMaplemere
	ProjectProfile_AspenMuirWoods_Amherst__NY_Properties_KP6_LLC
	Aspen_Revised_CBAnalysis_12.2021
	2021-12-6 Inducement Resolution Aspen Heights project w Exhibits

	Dec2021_ExecDirReport



